IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

RODERRICK FERRELL, Appellant, vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

CASE NUMBER 93,127

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 17, 1996, a Lake County grand jury indicted Roderick Justin Farrell, the Appellant, and Howard Scott Anderson, charging each with one count of armed burglary and one count of armed robbery. Additionally, the indictment charged the Appellant alone with two counts of murder in the first degree. The indictment charged Charity Lynn Keesee and Dana Lynn Hooper with one count each of principal to armed burglary and principal to armed robbery. The indictment charged Keesee, Hooper, and Anderson with two counts of principal to murder in the first degree. (I 20-23)

Roderrick Ferrell, the appellant, was the first of the group to go on trial. After selecting a jury to hear the case, appellant had a change of heart and pleaded guilty to all four counts as charged. (XXI 1701-20) The jury convened at a subsequent date for a penalty phase after hearing the evidence, the jury returned with a unanimous recommendation that Ferrell should die in Florida's electric chair as to each of the two murders. (XXX 3467) Following a Spencer¹ hearing (XXX-XXXI 3475-3618) the trial court sentenced Ferrell to die for each of the murder convictions. (XI 2057-74) On May 22, 1998, appellant filed a notice of appeal. (XII 2180-81) This brief follows.

¹Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Facts of the Crimes

On the night of Friday, November 22, 1996, the appellant, Roderrick Ferrell, along with his three co-defendants, Scott Anderson, Dana Cooper, and Charity Keesee, left Murray, Kentucky for Eustis, Florida. Ferrell had lived in Eustis where he attended the ninth grade before moving back to Murray, Kentucky. (XXII 1953-56) After moving back to Kentucky, Ferrell had kept in touch with several of his Florida friends. Heather Wendorf, the daughter of the murder victims, was one of those continuing relationships. After Ferrell had moved from Florida to Kentucky, Heather Wendorf repeatedly wrote and called him. Heather told Ferrell that her parents were abusing her. She expressed a desire to run away from home and/or wished her parents dead. (XXVII 2957-59, XXVIII 3040-41, 3108-10, 3114)

After arriving in Eustis, Ferrell and his Kentucky clan visited the home of Shannon Yohee on Sunday afternoon. There, he spoke to Jeanine LeClaire and Heather Wendorf. He knew all three girls from his days of living in Eustis. Ferrell then visited the home of Audrey Presson, another friend. (XXV 2548-53, XXII 1953-58) Ferrell asked Presson if she wanted to leave Eustis with him. He explained that he was in town on some unfinished business. However, no one in the group said anything about killing anyone. (XXII 1959-61, 1968-69) The next day, Monday, November 25, 1996, Ferrell and his companions had a flat tire while driving in the Eustis area in Scott Anderson's mother's car. (XXVI 2729) They decided that they needed to leave Eustis that evening. The group returned to Shannon Yohee's house and called Jeanine LeClair and Heather Wendorf to inform them of the imminent departure. During the group's visit, Yohee heard Ferrell make a statement that he was going to kill Heather's parents so that they could steal their car and leave town. (XXV 2556-58) Ferrell spoke to Heather Wendorf by telephone, drew a map to her house from her directions and then left the Yohee residence. (XXV 2553-56, 2561-62)

The group drove to Heather Wendorf's neighborhood and met her down the road from her home. The three girls, Heather Wendorf, Dana Cooper, and Charity Keesee, went to visit Heather's boyfriend and to pick up Jeanine LeClair. Ferrell and Scott Anderson were to meet the girls at Jeanine's house after stealing the Wendorfs' money and vehicle. They armed themselves with a stick that Ferrell referred to as a "quarter staff" in case they needed it to defend themselves during the burglary. Ferrell and Anderson reached the Wendorf home a few minutes later. They entered through an unlocked garage where they searched to find a better weapon. Their plan was to "hog tie" Heather's parents and rob them. They may have discussed the possibility of "taking out" the victims if they fought back during the burglary. (XXVI 2765) They

did not know Mr. Wendorf's size. As a precaution, Ferrell armed himself with a crowbar from the garage. (XXVI 2758-71)

When the pair entered the home, Richard Wendorf was lying on the couch in front of a blaring television. Naoma Queen was taking a shower in another part of the house. Scott Anderson disconnected the telephone from the wall. Ferrell approached Richard Wendorf (who may have been asleep) and raised the crowbar over his head. Ferrell proceeded to strike Wendorf's head repeatedly with the crowbar. (XXVI 2771-73) Richard Wendorf died as a result of blunt impact to the head with skull fractures and brain lacerations. Richard Wendorf suffered no defensive wounds. The position of his body was consistent with the fact that he was completely unaware of the attack. (XXII 1989-99, XXIII 2000-23, 2049-56)

Anderson and Ferrell then began to search the house for money and the keys to the Wendorf's Explorer. Ferrell explained that they were trying to find the keys and get out of the house before Naoma Queen got out of the shower. (XXVI 2774) Unfortunately, appellant's plan failed. Naoma Queen encountered the intruders when she walked into the kitchen. Queen reacted by throwing a cup of scalding hot coffee onto Ferrell. She also scratched and clawed his face and fought him. Ferrell responded by beating her into submission and ultimately to death. (XXVI 2732, 2774-78) Naoma Queen died as a result of chop wounds of blunt impact to her head which resulted in skull fractures and brain laceration. Queen's brain stem was severed which resulted in almost instantaneous death. Queen did suffer wounds on her hands and arms which were consistent with defensive wounds. (XXIII 2048-52)

After the murders, Ferrell and Anderson searched the house for valuables, money, and keys. They took a credit card from the body of Richard Wendorf. Ferrell and Anderson then left the house in the Wendorfs' Explorer. (XXVI 2780-82) They met Cooper, Keesee, and Heather Wendorf as the girls were returning to the Wendorfs' neighborhood. The entire group then left Eustis in both vehicles and traveled to Sanford, Florida, where they abandoned the Buick. They switched the license plates so that the Explorer bore the Kentucky plate of the Buick and viceversa. (XXVI 2788) All five then drove the Explorer west to New Orleans, Louisiana. Along the way they used Richard Wendorf's Discover credit card to buy gasoline and a knife from a Walmart in Crestview, Florida. (XXV 2595-98)

When they reached Baton Rouge, Louisiana, Charity Keesee phoned a relative. Keesee's relative tipped off the authorities and the group was arrested without incident. (XXVI 2789-93) The appellant agreed to cooperate with the police if they allowed him to visit with Charity Keesee, his girlfriend. In statements to Louisiana authorities and to Florida detectives, Ferrell took most of the blame for the crimes. (XXVI 2720-2823) Ferrell subsequently pled guilty as charged and the case proceeded to a penalty phase. (XXI 1701-1726)

The State's Case for Aggravation

Based on the circumstances of the murders, the state argued, and the trial court agreed, that the murders were committed in the commission of an enumerated felony; that the murders were committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification; and that the murders were committed for pecuniary gain. (XI 1952-53) The trial court subsequently found that the "pecuniary gain" factor merged with the factor dealing with "during the course an enumerated felony." (XI 2059-60)

The state also convinced the trial court that the circumstances of Naoma Queen's murder were especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC). The state did not argue nor did the trial court find that the murder of Richard Wendorf was HAC. (XI 1952-53, 2060) Finally, based on the simultaneous convictions for the murders of two separate victims, the trial court found that Rod Ferrell was "previously" convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence. (XI 2059) Facts in Mitigation²

Rod Ferrell, a boy of only 16, on November 25, 1996 when Richard Wendorf

² The facts in this section are taken **verbatim** from the sentencing judge's findings of fact in support of the imposition of the death penalty. Any errors are in the original.

and Naoma Queen were killed, was born in the small college town of Murray, Kentucky on March 28, 1980. His mother is Sondra Gibson, who was only 17 when Rod was born, and his father is Rick Ferrell who also was only a teenager. Rod's father and mother did not marry until Rod was 9 days old. Within a few weeks they broke up and Rod remained with his mother. His father entered the military and filed for a divorce through a local attorney in Murray. His father spent little time with Rod as he was growing up. The last time he saw "the child" as he referred to him during his entire testimony, was when Rod was about eight years old. His paternal grandmother, Betty Jean Ferrell testified that she had gone back to court when he was a small child to obtain court order visitation with "Roddy" as she fondly referred to him. She described him as a "sweet boy" whom she loved dearly, and but for the interference of his mother, she believes she could have made a difference in his life. She had not seen Rod since he was about eight either. Sondra Gibson, Rod's mother, was described by these two witnesses as manipulating and prone to making up stories, fits of temper which made it nearly impossible to have a relationship with the young boy. His father stated that he finally just gave up trying to have a relationship with his son. Rod's father since joining the armed forces had completed a bachelor and masters degree in aviation technology and was employed in the airline insurance business.

After Rod was born, his mother lived with her parents, Rosetta and Harrell Gibson. Mr. Gibson's employment moved the family from Murray, Kentucky to central Florida and back several times while Rod was growing up. The first move brought the Gibsons to the Winter Garden area. It was at this time that Rod allegedly fell ill with what was diagnosed as encephalitis, although no medical records could be located regarding that illness. The mother testified that Rod had suddenly become ill and the child was taken to a nearby hospital. According to the mother the doctors told the mother that he might not survive the night. This information was provided by the family to Dr. Meyer for his evaluation. He determined that it would not be likely that a medical professional would tell a family that their child might not survive unless it was really a severe illness. Dr. Meyer also concluded that this illness could be related to the onset of some of the symptoms of bizarre behavior that Rod had manifested over the months prior to November 25, 1996.

The next move was back to Murray, Kentucky. It was during this period that Rod spent time with his paternal grandmother two times per week in the after noon. He was also exposed to his paternal grandfather, who it was documented suffered from the debilitating mental illness of schizophrenia. It should be noted that the evidence revealed that Rod was not related by blood to his paternal grandparents because his father had been adopted. Although Dr. Meyer did suggest that the environmental exposure of Rod to his paternal grandfather may have had an effect on him. Further, it was during this time that Rod has stated on numerous occasions he was raped while on a fishing trip with his grandfather, although the grandfather he has continuously referred to with regard to the sexual abuse allegation is his maternal grandfather. This evidence is supported by Rod's Aunt who as a young teenager was sexually fondled by her father. Rod has been consistent about his innocence being taken away at age 5. He also relates being exposed to the occult at this age, having witnessed human sacrifices during this time period, and being introduced to the Dungeons and Dragons improvisational games. Both his mother and father have admitted that they freely permitted this young child to play these fantasy games.

It was also during this time frame that Rod began a long time friendship with Matt Goodman. He had also known Scott Anderson since second grade, but it was not until this time period that he and Matt and Scott developed their fantasy games which later became an enormous part of their everyday life. The fantasy games were based initially on the Dungeons and Dragons games.

All through Rod's young life he was described as a sweet boy, obedient, loving, caring, and considerate. His mother would leave Rod on a regular basis with her parents. However, they were not permitted to discipline Rod. She reserved that authority for herself. She was often dancing in nightclubs, running the streets with

men, prostituting herself, and using drugs and alcohol. During the late 80's Rod lived alone with his mother at the Southside Manor Apartments in Murray, Kentucky. These are fully subsidized apartments and Sondra Gibson was living there rent free. Rod was permitted to play his fantasy games all the time with his friends, using the woods near their homes to engage in their battles and violent fantasy games.

Around the age of 10, Rod and his mother moved back to Florida and again began living with her father and mother, on Lemon Avenue, in Eustis, Florida. Rod attended Eustis Middle School and had begun Eustis High School when in December, 1995 the family again moved to Murray, Kentucky. When Rod lived in Eustis he was described by his friends as a laid back kind of guy, nice and quiet. Audrey Presson recalled Rod's strawberry red hair that he wore in a pony tail. He dated Shannon Yohee during this time period. Shannon identified pictures of her with Rod at Sondra Gibson's wedding to Darren Vraven in Daytona Beach in mid 1995. It was during this time period that Rod began hanging around Heather Wendorf and Jeanine LeClair. In December, 1995, Sondra Gibson walked into Rod's room in their home and found Jeanine LeClair, Rod and another young boy with the lights off and blood all over the place. The kids had sliced their arms with a razor blade and were engaging in a blood letting and crossing over ritual, commonly engaged in by members of vampire cults. It was shortly after this incident that Rod was removed from school in Eustis and moved

again to Murray, Kentucky. When the family first arrived in Murray, Sondra, her new husband, Rod lived once again with Darrell and Rosetta Gibson. Rod was enrolled in Calloway County High School as a transfer into the 10th grade. It was also at this time that Sondra and her new husband moved to Michigan. Rod was told by his new stepfather that, "his mother was never coming back, so he might as well get used to it." Sondra Gibson cried during her testimony when she recalled learning of what her son had been told. It upset her so much that she returned immediately to Murray, Kentucky to be with her son and filed for a divorce from Darren Vraven. Sondra Gibson admitted that Mr. Vraven was supplying her son with drugs and that she did nothing to stop it. Ferrell also told law enforcement officials in Baton Rouge, Louisiana that Vraven was a drug dealer. Rod's mother also spoke of physical and mental abuse by Vraven. In addition, there was testimony that Vraven was involved in satanic worship and such rituals.

When Rod's mother returned, she and Rod moved once again into the Southside Manor Apartments on Broad Street in Murray, Kentucky. It was during this time period that Rod's behavior, in school and at home, and his outward appearance began to transform from the normal teenager to a demonic, dark painted, creature that walked the cemeteries at night, cutting himself so other could drink his blood, and telling people he was a 500 year old vampire named Vesago. His school work became non-existent. He violated school policy by failing to attend class, smoking cigarettes on campus, and being openly defiant to his teachers and other school officials. Stephen Murphy aka "Jaden" is also someone that Rod began to hang around with. It was Stephen who crossed Rod over in to Vampirism, gave him the name Vesago, and became his sire. Stephen Murphy was known in Murray as the "Prince of the City". April Doeden, a former girlfriend of Rod's testified that on the night Murphy crossed Rod over he couldn't get to sleep, he cried and shivered all night long like a scared little boy. April described how Rod's mother would yell at him and blame him for ruining her life saying that he was responsible for killing all of his unborn brothers and sisters (children Sondra had lost through miscarriages), and that she wished he were dead.

The school assistant principal tried to help Rod by getting him into counseling at Calloway County High School with Marianne O'Rourke. Rod attended six sessions with Ms. O'Rourke before he was expelled in April, 1996. Rod's mother was permitting him to stay out all night long with Murphy, use drugs, and not go to school. She knew he was mutilating himself and yet through all of these distinct and obvious signs, and against the advice of Ms. O'Rourke she did not seek to hospitalize this young boy. Also at this time, Rod was having telephone conversations long distance with Heather Wendorf and Jeanine LeClair. The first time someone overheard Heather tell Rod she wanted him to get rid of her parents was in late spring of 1996. April Doeden overheard Heather tell Rod that her parents were hurting her and that she wanted him to come get her, but he would have to kill them, because they would never let her go. Along with his relationship with April, Rod developed a relationship with a young girl by the name of Charity Keesee who attended his high school. It was an incident involving his comforting Ms. Keesee and a teacher named Stonecipher approached and directed him to go to class that led to his expulsion from school. He responded that her command was shitty.

In May, 1996, Sondra took her son to an evaluation with the Kentucky Mental Health and Retardation Board in Murray. The social worker, Debra Mooney spent at most 45 minutes with Rod and then 15 minutes with his mother, although she is not sure if she only spent 30 minutes with Rod and 30 minutes with his mother. She described Rod as all dressed in black with black nail polish, black hair, and makeup. That he was engaging in self-mutilation and he felt persecuted by society. She noted that she felt the mother and son were minimizing the need for psychological help. There was no testing or releases obtained to complete the evaluation on that date. Tod's next appointment was canceled by his mother, and he failed to show up to the next two sessions. The next time Debra Mooney saw Rod was in early October, 1996. She only saw him for 15 minutes because, as she stated, she didn't think Rod was going to show up, so she filled in his appointment slot with a patient who was suicidal.

During the Summer of 1996 Rod's mother engaged the assistance of the Division of Child Services and had Rod declared an uncontrollable minor. However, once again, Sondra Gibson minimized and lied for her son so that he could avoid getting a job, going to counseling, and his overall participation in the real world. He was continuing to use drugs regularly during this time.

In addition, Sondra Gibson had been writing love letters to the 14 year old brother of Stephen Murphy, trying to solicit him to cross her over and have her as his vampire bride. She reported the Vampire cult information to the Department of Children's Services but they did not take any aggressive action. They appeared to be acting upon the mother's requests for assistance, and when the mother was lying for Rod and assisting him in avoiding the requirements the Department had scheduled for him, his illness seemed to become further exacerbated. In the summer of 1996, Rod was sparing with Matt Goodman to prepare for a fantasy game they were going to play later that evening and Rod kicked Matt in the teeth. Matt believed that this was intentional. Since that time Rod's relationship with Matt deteriorated. In September, 1996 Rod was attacked by Stephen Murphy. Rod was taken to Murray Calloway County Hospital but refused treatment. His mother states that he was knocked unconscious when Murphy threw him up against the wall. Stephen was charged and

sentenced for this offense. It was shortly after this incident that Sondra Gibson was charged with soliciting a minor for the letters she had written to Murphy's little brother.

The Trial Court's Conclusions Regarding Mitigation Circumstances

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