IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RODERRICK FERRELL,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. 93.127

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ferrell's claim of an impermissible "restriction" on the length of time allowed for closing argument was not properly preserved by timely objection. Moreover, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in limiting closing argument to 45 minutes to

¹⁷The day of the murders in Lake County, Florida.

the side. In any event, under the facts, assuming arguendo that some error took place, it was harmless.

The claim of "judicial bias" is procedurally barred because no motion for disqualification was made within 10 days of the discovery of the facts supporting the motion. Alternatively, this claim is meritless because the facts do not support it.

Ferrell's claim that the trial court "restricted" voir dire improperly is not supported by the record. There is no legal basis for his claim, and, in any event, assuming that some error occurred, it was harmless.

The "lay witness opinion testimony" claim has no legal basis -- the complained-of testimony was not "opinion" testimony in the first place. Moreover, that testimony was given during the penalty phase of Ferrell's trial, with the attendant relaxed evidentiary standards. Finally, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under these facts.

The claim concerning the denial of the motion to suppress has no legal basis -- a second, unchallenged statement that included a full confession to the murders was admitted into evidence. Any error associated with another statement was harmless because the evidence was placed before the jury through a statement that Ferrell concedes was properly admitted. Moreover, both statements

were properly admitted, and, for that reason, there is no basis for relief.

The trial court properly denied Ferrell's motion for a change of venue. A fair and impartial jury was selected, and there is no error. In any event, Ferrell has not identified any juror whom he claims was biased, nor has he alleged that his trial was not fair and impartial.

Ferrell's claim concerning the admission of testimony about his plans to escape from the Lake County Jail is not a basis for reversal. The complained-of testimony was properly admitted. In any event, that testimony was used by the sentencing court to support a mitigating circumstance found in the sentencing order. Moreover, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The sentencing court properly found the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator based upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the "elements" of this aggravating circumstance. Settled law supports the finding of this aggravator.

The sentencing court properly found the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator. The components of this aggravating circumstance were established beyond a reasonable doubt, and the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator was properly found under settled Florida law.

Death is a proportionate sentence in this case. Four strong aggravators exist: cold, calculated, and premeditated; heinous, atrocious, or cruel; prior violent felony; and during the course of a felony. Those aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigation, and death is the appropriate sentence.

Ferrell's claim that it would be unconstitutional to execute him because he was 16 years old at the time of the murders is not a basis for relief. United States Supreme Court precedent establishes that a sentence of death can constitutionally be imposed on a 16-year-old killer, and this Court should honor that precedent and uphold the sentence of death in this case.

In the final sentencing order, the trial court erroneously found that the avoiding arrest aggravator was not proven by the state. The evidence established that the dominant motive for the murders was the elimination of witnesses, which is the standard for finding this aggravator when the victim is not a law enforcement officer.

The trial court also erroneously excluded testimony that Ferrell was fleeing law enforcement. Such testimony was relevant to the avoiding arrest aggravator, and should have been admitted.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LIMITATION ON CLOSING ARGUMENT CLAIM

On pages 23-33 of the *Initial Brief*, Ferrell argues that the trial court "abused its discretion" by limiting closing argument to 45 minutes to the side. Whether this claim is properly preserved is, at the very least, an open question. However, it is clear that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in imposing a limitation on the length of closing argument.

This claim has its "foundation" in the following cryptic comment by the trial court:

I intend to give both of you, over noted objection, forty-five minutes each for closing, State first, Defense last.

(TR2915). ¹⁸ Those time parameters were emphasized by the trial court on at least two subsequent occasions. (TR3328-29; 3337). The record does not reveal, and no testimony establishes, which party's objection was the "noted objection" referred to by the trial court. Ferrell's argument is, from its inception, based upon the assumption that it was the defense that "objected." That assumption finds no support in the record. ¹⁹ At no time did defense counsel

 $^{\,^{18}\}mathrm{The}$ citation form "TR----" is used to refer to the 15 volumes of testimony.

¹⁹The most that the record shows is that **either** the State **or** Ferrell objected to some aspect of 45 minutes being allotted for final argument. That is not a sufficient basis for relief, and Ferrell's claim is nothing more than uninformed and unsupported speculation.

voice an objection or attempt to convince the trial court to "reconsider" any prior ruling. Defense counsel's closing argument consists of some 25 pages of transcript and appears to have lasted approximately 45 minutes. (TR3366-91). Defense counsel did not assert, at the conclusion of that argument, that there were additional matters to be argued, did not identify any argument that was not made as a result of the time limitation, and did not ask the trial court to reconsider its decision to limit closing argument to 45 minutes. Because that is so, nothing is preserved for appellate review.

The issue contained in this claim is analogous to a claim for relief based upon a denial of additional peremptory challenges, which requires that all challenges be exhausted, and additional challenges be requested for use against specified venire members before any claim is preserved for appellate review. The claim contained in Ferrell's brief is the functional equivalent of such a peremptory challenge claim, and, because Ferrell never even argued to the court that he would make an additional argument if given the time, he has preserved nothing for this Court's review. Of course, this claim is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. Before the trial court can be placed in error, that court should have the benefit of an objection by defense counsel which

placed the court on notice of the substance of the objection.

Nothing resembling such an objection appears in the record, and,

for that reason, nothing is preserved for review by this Court.

In addition to not being preserved for appellate review, the record, as "reconstructed", is considerably less clear on this issue than Ferrell suggests. According to the testimony at the record reconstruction hearing, only Ferrell remembered his attorney objecting to a 45-minute limitation on closing argument. (SR569-70). Ferrell was very specific that this objection was made in open court (not during a bench conference) before the jury was brought into the courtroom²⁰. (SR569-70). Ferrell's trial counsel **thinks** that she probably objected to any limitation on closing argument, but could not specifically recall²¹. (SR548-9). The courtroom deputy who served as bailiff during Ferrell's trial had no recollection of any objection by defense counsel. (SR554). The courtroom clerk had no recollection of any objection to the length of time allowed for closing argument, and testified that such an objection would be reflected in her chronological summary in the court file if such

 $^{^{20}}$ Ferrell was quite certain that the "objection" was not made at the bench because, according to Ferrell, the headphones that allowed him to hear bench conferences did not work so he did not use them. (SR569-70).

²¹Ferrell's co-counsel also had no recollection of any objection being made. (SR 551-2).

objection was made. (SR554-5). The court reporter who took Ferrell's trial had no recollection of any objection by defense counsel. (SR555). Finally, neither of the prosecutors involved in this case had any recollection of any objection to the length of closing argument. (SR555-6). The trial court stated:

I will state for the record, I also have no specific recollection as to whether or not [defense counsel] made some verbal objection at some point when we were not on the record. But I will reiterate, it has to be that [defense counsel] indicated to me at some time that she objected to the forty-five minute limitation because I would not have said "over objection" otherwise.

(SR552). Despite that statement of what "has to be," when all of the evidence is considered, it points toward the absence of an objection.

Of the individuals involved, Ferrell is the **only** person who has **any** recollection of an objection to the limitation on closing argument. Obviously, Ferrell has a greater interest in the outcome of this litigation than anyone else, and, further, is the one person with a track record of dishonesty and deceit. (See, e.g., TR2427). If, as Ferrell claims, such objection took place in open court in the presence of the prosecution, the bailiffs, the court reporter, and the clerk, **someone** would have remembered the objection being made, and, moreover, it would be recorded in the clerk's record and in the transcript of the proceedings. However,

the state of the record is that the only person who has **any** recall about the matter in question is the one person with the greatest vested interest in the outcome of his case. Ferrell's testimony is completely incredible, and is unworthy of belief.

When the remaining testimony is fairly considered, that testimony leads to the conclusion that no objection was made by defense counsel to the length of time allowed for final summation. That conclusion is bolstered by the testimony of the two persons whose duty it would have been to record such an objection -- the court clerk and the court reporter. Neither of those individuals had any recollection of such an objection being made. In fact, as the court clerk testified, such an objection would be indicated in her court file had it been made. The absence of such a notation, coupled with the total absence of any such objection in the transcript itself, is evidence that no such objection was made. There is no persuasive evidence to the contrary, and there is no basis for relief on this claim because it was not properly preserved for appellate review.

In addition to the foregoing reasons for denial of relief on

²²The testimony of the clerk that such objection would have been indicated in the file had it been made supports the conclusion that, because there is no record of objection in the file, no objection was made.

this claim, even assuming that an objection was made (and that it was timely and sufficient to preserve any issue for review), there is no basis for relief because there was no abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court. As this Court has repeatedly held, [[w]e have clearly held that trial courts also have broad discretion in the procedural conduct of trials". Moore v. State, 701 So.2d 545, 549 (Fla. 1997); Rock v. State, 638 So.2d 933, 934 (Fla. 1994). Other than providing a ready issue for appeal, Ferrell has not suggested how the trial court "abused" its discretion in restricting counsel for the parties to 45 minutes to the side for closing argument²³. A review of defense counsel's closing argument reveals a cogent, sensible, and rational argument in favor of a sentence of life without parole rather than death. However, despite the hyperbole of Ferrell's brief, nothing in his brief even purports to identify how Ferrell was prejudiced by the trial court's discretionary ruling. While defense counsel frequently desires an unlimited amount of time for closing argument, the state of the law is that it is within the discretion of the trial court, as a part of the inherent authority of the court, to impose a

²³The **only** thing that Ferrell's trial counsel said that she would have done differently if she had had more time would have been to read several documents to the jury rather than "simply reminding them to look at these documents during deliberations." *Initial Brief* at 26.

limitation of the length of closing argument. There is no rule that requires that closing argument be of any particular length, and there is no formula for calculating a "reasonable" time. However, under the facts of this case, 45 minutes was enough time for defense counsel to present an argument that clearly and concisely stated the defendant's position and argument in support of a sentence less than death.²⁴

Finally, the facts of this brutal double-murder obviously made it incredibly difficult to argue against a sentence of death, and made it difficult, at best, to adduce mitigation sufficient to persuade a jury to recommend a sentence less than death²⁵. Under these facts, it is not possible to conclude that Ferrell's jury would have recommended a different sentence if defense counsel had been allowed an unlimited amount of time for closing argument. Ferrell cannot demonstrate any prejudice, cannot demonstrate an abuse of discretion, and, moreover, cannot demonstrate harmful

²⁴Ferrell's *Initial Brief* is 95 pages long and contains 11 principal issues. Oral argument before this Court is limited to 30 minutes in which to present legal argument on those issues. Surely Ferrell does not believe that such is an insufficient amount of time.

²⁵A review of the penalty phase closing arguments in other recent cases reveals that such argument consumes, on average, approximately 20 pages. Ferrell's, at 26 pages, is relatively long.

error²⁶. If it was error to limit the length of closing argument, (assuming it was limited), and the State does not concede that it was, that error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

II. THE JUDICIAL BIAS CLAIM

On pages 34-40 of his brief, Ferrell claims that he is entitled to relief "[b]ecause of the trial court's appearance of partiality." *Initial Brief* at 40. In an effort to create a basis for relief from whole cloth, Ferrell attempts to force this case into the facts of various Fourth District Court of Appeals cases which held, in essence, that the trial judge "went too far in assisting the prosecutor." *Id.* Those cases are distinguishable on their face, do not support Ferrell's position, and are not a basis for relief. Moreover, Ferrell is not entitled to relief on this claim because it is procedurally barred.

Florida law is settled that a motion to disqualify a trial judge must be raised within 10 days of the discovery of the facts supporting the motion. There is no question that the "facts" now

²⁶This claim appears to be, as much as anything, a convenient issue based upon an unexplained remark by the trial court. Other than reading various documents to the jury, what would have been different with more time for closing is unelaborated. A reference to those documents, rather than a reading of them, was certainly sufficient, and, in the eyes of the jury, was probably preferable.

alleged as a basis for the claim of judicial bias were well-known to Ferrell at the time of jury selection, and could have been used as the basis for a motion for disqualification at that time. There is also no question that Ferrell waited until long after his trial was over to raise this claim. Because Ferrell did not comply with Florida Rule of Judicial Administration Rule 2.160(e), he has waived his right to seek relief on this claim. Rule 2.160(e) exists to insure that claims of "judicial bias" are raised in a timely fashion rather than being held in reserve against an adverse result and then being presented for the first time on appeal. This claim is not available to Ferrell, and all relief should be denied.

In addition to not having been properly preserved for review, this claim is meritless. In an effort to create an issue of appeal, Ferrell argues that the trial court "first appeared less than neutral during jury selection." *Initial Brief* at 36.²⁷ The true facts are that the juror at issue, Jefferson, was late in returning to the courtroom during *voir dire*, which, as this Court is aware, creates an unnecessary disruption in the proceedings by requiring that everyone wait until such time as the late prospective juror

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